
MINUTES OF THE PLAN COMMISSION 
March 22, 2010 

 
 
The regular meeting of the Plan Commission was called to order by Chairman Mark Moore at 7:01 
p.m. at the Village Hall. 
 
Members present:  Chairman Mark Moore, William Cotey, Walter Oakley, and Andy Robinson. 
 
Members absent:  Scott Adams, Robert Guarnaccio, and Terry Howard. 
 
A quorum was established. 
 
Village Staff present:  John Spoden, Director of Community Development; David Smith, Senior 
Planner; and Pat Sheeran, Project Engineer. 
 
Commissioner Cotey moved, seconded by Commissioner Oakley, to approve the February 22, 2010, 
Plan Commission meeting minutes, as amended. 
 
Motion carried 4 - 0. 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 
 
PC 09-16 Richard W. Burke and Allen L. Kracower, Applicants 
  Approximately 97 acres generally located west of Butterfield Road, north of 

Park Avenue and the Conventional Franciscan Friars of Marytown, and east of 
Pine Meadow Golf Course and Saint Mary of the Lake Seminary 

 
 Request is for an Amendment to the Comprehensive Plan in order to change the land 

use designation from Public/Institutional to Residential for approximately 97 acres 
currently in an IB, Institutional Buildings Distric t located west of Butterfield Road and 
north of West Park Avenue. 

 
This item has been continued to the April 12, 2010 Plan Commission meeting. 
 
PC 10-03 Insite Re, Inc., Applicant 
  200 East Cook Avenue 
 
 Request is for a Special Use Permit for Personal Wireless Services Antennas with 

antenna support structure and related electronic equipment and equipment structure 
in order to install multiple panel antennas on the crown of the Village of Libertyville 
water tower and ancillary ground equipment in an IB, Institutional Buildings District. 

 
PC 10-04 Insite Re, Inc., Applicant 
  200 East Cook Avenue 



Minutes of the March 22, 2010, Plan Commission Meeting 
Page 2 of 9 
 
 Request is for a Site Plan Permit in order to install multiple panel antennas on the 

crown of the Village of Libertyville water tower and ancillary ground equipment in an 
IB, Institutional Buildings District. 

 
Mr. David Smith, Senior Planner, stated that the petitioner is seeking approval for a Special Use 
Permit, Site Plan Permit and variations to allow for the installation for Personal Wireless Services 
Antennas with antenna support structure and related electronic equipment and equipment structure.  
If approved, the petitioner is proposing to install multiple panel antennas on the crown of the Village 
of Libertyville water tower and ancillary ground equipment in an IB, Institutional Buildings District 
located at 200 East Cook Avenue.   
 
Mr. Smith stated that the subject site is located on property owned by the Village of Libertyville at 
the northwest corner of Cook Avenue and First Street.  The subject property houses various Village 
services including the Police Department, Engineering Division, and Community Development 
Department.  The Village water tower exists on this parcel at the north end of the Village office 
building and stands at a height of approximately 139 feet.  Access to the site comes directly from 
both Cook Avenue and First Street.  The site is approximately 2.5 acres in size and is bordered by a 
townhome development on the north property line. 
 
Mr. Smith stated that the petitioner is proposing to install 18 post corral to be mounted on the crown 
of the water tower to accommodate the personal wireless services antennas.  Ground equipment is 
proposed to be installed within a 23’ by 35’ wooden enclosure at the west side of the base of the 
water tower.  The wooden enclosure is proposed to be approximately 10 feet in height. 
 
Mr. David Pardys, Village Attorney, stated the Plan Commission is about to begin the public 
hearings to consider the special use application of Verizon Wireless.  The purpose of this hearing is 
to review the application and related submittals and to hear testimony in order to determine whether 
the applicant has met the standards for a special use as set forth in Section 16 of the Libertyville 
Zoning Code.  Members of the public who wished to participate would be given an opportunity to 
speak on this issue and to ask questions of any of the witnesses called to testify.  Mr. Pardys stated to 
the members of the Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals, as well as members of the 
public in attendance, that the Commission’s authority is subject to certain restrictions contained in 
the Federal Telecommunications Act of 1996.  Section 332 of the Act provides that a municipality, 
in making zoning decisions as to the placement of cell towers and antennae may not consider “the 
environmental effects of radio frequency emissions to the extent that such facilities comply with the 
Commission's regulations concerning such emissions”. 
 
Mr. Pardys stated that the applicant has submitted information to the Village which indicates that the 
proposed facility will be in compliance with FCC regulations.  Consequently, Mr. Pardys asked that 
the public and members of the Commission refrain from addressing the subject of the environmental 
effects of radio frequency emissions during these hearings. 
 
Mr. Ray Shinkle, presented the proposed Verizon Wireless antenna project to the Plan Commission.  
Mr. Shinkle stated that customers are demanding cell phone use.  He stated that Verizon continues to 



Minutes of the March 22, 2010, Plan Commission Meeting 
Page 3 of 9 
 
improve its technology.  He presented the cell phone coverage maps and stated that the proposed cell 
phone antenna at the Cook Avenue Water Tank will improve cell phone coverage.  He stated that all 
other co-location opportunities have been exhausted.  He stated that he was involved with the 
approvals for two other cell phone company antenna installations, one at the Garfield Avenue water 
tank and the other at the Liberty Towers residential facility.  He stated that it is now rare to not see 
antennas on water tanks. 
 
Mr. Shinkle presented the Site Plan to the Plan Commission.  He stated that the ground equipment 
structure will be enclosed within a ten (10) foot high wooden fence.  He stated that the antennas will 
have a height of 137 feet as measured from adjacent grade to the center line of the antennas and a 
total height of approximately 138.6 feet.  He stated that a co-axel will be run up through the inside of 
the tank with the exterior work painted white. 
 
Mr. Dan Timm, 518 First Street, stated that he has a petition signed by fourteen (14) people that 
objects to the proposed Verizon Wireless antennas and ground equipment request.  He stated that 
there is a concern for the negative impact upon neighboring property values.  He stated that he is 
concerned that other carriers will co-locate on the water tank and make it even less aesthetically 
appealing.  He stated that there are other alternative sites such as in other commercial areas, near 
Lake Liberty and on the Mungo property. 
 
Mr. Shinkle stated that they have hired real estate appraisers for other sites in other communities in 
which personal wireless services antennas were installed in close proximity to residential 
neighborhoods and have often found that there has not been a reduction in property values.  He stated 
that it was not necessary to do a real estate appraisal in this case.  He stated that there will be limited 
space for future carriers to co-locate on this site.  He stated that Verizon will have 12 antennas at this 
site. 
 
Mr. Scott Daley, 177 School Street, asked what will the benefit be to allow Verizon to co-locate on 
the Cook Avenue water tank.  Mr. Shinkle stated that in the 1980’s there were only two cell phone 
carriers.  He stated that now there are seven carriers which creates more competition and more 
competitive prices for the consumer.   
 
Mr. Daley stated that another location would be better than the water tank. 
 
Ms. Laura Amaya, 303 North Avenue, stated that the health effects should be permitted to be 
discussed in the public hearing.  She stated that there has been no conclusive evidence cell phone 
antennas won’t cause negative health effects. 
 
Mr. Timm stated that he is concerned about additional co-location carriers applying to be installed on 
the water tank after the Verizon installation. 
 
Mr. Shinkle stated that an RF study will be completed. 
 



Minutes of the March 22, 2010, Plan Commission Meeting 
Page 4 of 9 
 
Commissioner Robinson asked who the two carriers are at the Garfield Avenue Water Tank.  Mr. 
Shinkle stated that T-Mobile and ClearWire have been approved for the Garfield Avenue water tank. 
 
Chairman Moore asked for clarification regarding the coverage maps.  Mr. Shinkle stated that the 
Verizon installation will improve coverage for their customers. 
 
Chairman Moore asked for clarification regarding service providers microwave and transmission of 
data technology.  Mr. Shinkle stated there will be improvements in voice, email and texting traffic, 
and video and internet usage.  He stated that there is still a need for a free clear line of site between 
the antenna facilities. 
 
Commissioner Cotey asked for clarification regarding the other existing antennas on the water tank.  
Mr. Pat Sheeran, Village Project Engineer, stated that the Police and Fire Departments have some 
communication equipment on the water tank. 
 
Commissioner Cotey asked how much more proficient the coverage will be by Verizon.  Mr. Shinkle 
stated that they have done a rigid analysis of the cost/benefit which brought them to the decision to 
co-locate the Verizon antennas at the Cook Avenue Water Tank. 
 
Commissioner Cotey asked for clarification as to anticipated length of time the petitioner anticipates 
that the Verizon equipment will remain installed at the Cook Avenue water tank.  Mr. Shinkle stated 
that he could not predict the life of the Verizon equipment. 
 
Ms. Christine Zebrowski, 158 Newberry Avenue, stated that Verizon should reconsider their 
proposed location and move it to the east side industrial area of the Village. 
 
Commissioner Cotey asked if the petitioner considered vacant land.  Mr. Shinkle stated that the 
Zoning Code requires that all possible co-location on existing structures should be exhausted prior to 
constructing a new monopole for personal wireless service antennas. 
 
In the matter of PC 10-03, Commissioner Oakley moved, seconded by Commissioner Cotey, to 
recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a Special Use Permit for Personal Wireless 
Services Antennas with antenna support structure and related electronic equipment and equipment 
structure in order to install multiple panel antennas on the crown of the Village of Libertyville water 
tower and ancillary ground equipment in the IB, Institutional Buildings District, subject to the 
following conditions:  
1) A Co-Location RF Interference Analysis Report shall demonstrate that the proposed 

Wireless Services Antennas with antenna support structure and related electronic equipment 
and equipment structures will be compatible and not interfere with the Village’s existing 
Communication and Antenna Wireless Networking system.  The Co-Location Interference 
Analysis Report shall be reviewed and approved by Radicom, Inc., the Village’s 
Communication’s service provider or a communication’s service provider as determined by 
the Village Administrator prior to issuance of any site development or installation permits. 



Minutes of the March 22, 2010, Plan Commission Meeting 
Page 5 of 9 
 
2) Review and approval of revised plans at time of permit application by the Director of Public 

Works shall be required. 
 
Motion carried 3 - 1. 
 
Ayes:  Moore, Cotey, Oakley 
Nays:  Robinson 
Absent: Adams, Guarnaccio, Howard 
 
In the matter of PC 10-04, Commissioner Oakley moved, seconded by Commissioner Cotey, to 
recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a Site Plan Permit in order to install multiple 
panel antennas on the crown of the Village of Libertyville water tower and ancillary ground 
equipment in the IB, Institutional Buildings District, subject to the following conditions:   
1) A Co-Location RF Interference Analysis Report shall demonstrate that the proposed 

Wireless Services Antennas with antenna support structure and related electronic equipment 
and equipment structures will be compatible and not interfere with the Village’s existing 
Communication and Antenna Wireless Networking system.  The Co-Location Interference 
Analysis Report shall be reviewed and approved by Radicom, Inc., the Village’s 
Communication’s service provider or a communication’s service provider as determined by 
the Village Administrator prior to issuance of any site development or installation permits. 

2) Review and approval of revised plans at time of permit application by the Director of Public 
Works shall be required. 

 
Motion carried 3 - 1. 
 
Ayes:  Moore, Cotey, Oakley 
Nays:  Robinson 
Absent: Adams, Guarnaccio, Howard 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
PC 10-09 StreetScape Development, LLC, Applicant 
  130-179 School Street 
 

Request is for Amendment to the Special Use Permit for a Planned Development in 
order to construct 26 single-family detached homes and rehab an existing 2-story public 
school building to be re-used as a multiple family structure proposed to contain 15 
dwelling units for property located in an R-8, Multiple Family Residential District. 

 
PC 10-10 StreetScape Development, LLC, Applicant 
  130-179 School Street 
 

Request is for a Major Adjustment to the Planned Development Final Plan in order to 
construct 26 single-family detached homes and rehab an existing 2-story public school 



Minutes of the March 22, 2010, Plan Commission Meeting 
Page 6 of 9 
 

building to be re-used as a multiple family structure proposed to contain 15 dwelling 
units for property located in an R-8, Multiple Family Residential District. 

 
PC 10-11 StreetScape Development, LLC, Applicant 
  130-179 School Street 
 

Request is for a Preliminary Plat of Resubdivision in order to construct 26 single-family 
detached homes and rehab an existing 2-story public school building to be re-used as a 
multiple family structure proposed to contain 15 dwelling units for property located in 
an R-8, Multiple Family Residential District. 

 
Due to improper notification by the applicant, these items will be re-noticed for the April 12, 2010, 
Plan Commission meeting. 
 
PC 10-12 Lake County Forest Preserve District, Applicant 
  1000 Technology Way 
 

Request is for a Text Amendment to Section 6-3.3 of the Libertyville Zoning Code to 
include “Public Administrative and General Government Buildings and Structures” 
and “Museums” as Special Permitted Uses in the O-2, Office, Manufacturing and 
Distribution Park District. 

 
PC 10-13 Lake County Forest Preserve District, Applicant 
  1000 Technology Way 
 

Request is for a Special Use Permit for Public Administrative and General Government 
Buildings and Structures in order to permit the occupancy of the Lake County Forest 
Preserve administrative offices in a facility located in the O-2, Office, Manufacturing 
and Distribution Park District. 

 
PC 10-14 Lake County Forest Preserve District, Applicant 
  1000 Technology Way 
 

Request is for a Special Use Permit for a Museum in order to permit the occupancy of 
the Lake County Forest Preserve Discovery Museum in a facility located in the O-2, 
Office, Manufacturing and Distribution Park Distric t. 

 
PC 10-15 Lake County Forest Preserve District, Applicant 
  1000 Technology Way 
 

Request is for a Site Plan Permit in order to permit the occupancy of the Lake County 
Forest Preserve administrative offices and Discovery Museum in a facility located in the 
O-2, Office, Manufacturing and Distribution Park Di strict. 

 



Minutes of the March 22, 2010, Plan Commission Meeting 
Page 7 of 9 
 
Mr. David Smith, Senior Planner, introduced the proposal to the Plan Commission.  Mr. Smith stated 
that the petitioner, Lake County Forest Preserve, is seeking approval for a Text Amendment to 
Section 6-3.3 of the Libertyville Zoning Code to include “Public Administrative and General 
Government Buildings and Structures” and “Museums” as Special Permitted Uses in an O-2, Office, 
Manufacturing and Distribution Park District.  Additionally, they are seeking Special Use Permits for 
Public Administrative and General Government Buildings and Structures and a Museum in order to 
permit the occupancy of their administrative offices and the Lake County Forest Preserve Discovery 
Museum, and a Site Plan Permit located in an O-2 Office, Manufacturing and Distribution Park 
District at 1000 Technology Way. 
 
Mr. Tom Hahn, Director of the Lake County Forest Preserve District, introduced himself to the Plan 
Commission. 
 
Mr. Andy Kimmel, Assistant Director of the Lake County Forest Preserve District, presented the 
zoning requests to the Plan Commission.  He stated the LCFPD has had a need to consolidate their 
administrative and service offices for quite some time.  He stated that they anticipate substantial 
financial savings by consolidating and occupying the office building located at 1000 Technology 
Way.  He stated that the additional benefits to relocating to Technology Way is that it is centrally 
located in Lake County.  He stated that the initial transition will include locating 115 administrative 
staff that work in 6 departments that comprise 12 divisions.  He stated that the location has space 
within it for future expansion if needed. 
 
Ms. Kathryn Hamilton-Smith, Lake County Forest Preserve District, stated that currently the Lake 
County Forest Preserve museum is located in Wauconda.  She stated that currently up to 45,000 
people visit the museum each year, 10,000 of which come from the schools.  She stated that once the 
museum re-locates at 1000 Technology Way, the display space will increase substantially. 
 
Mr. Kimmel stated that there shouldn’t be any negative impact and that there won’t be any visual 
deviation from the surrounding office type facilities.  He stated that the subject site has 335 parking 
spaces which are more than enough both per Code and for their needs.  He stated that the economic 
benefit to the community includes eventually employing between 100 and 150 employees.  He stated 
that they anticipate up to 135,000 annual visitors to the museum.  He stated that there will be an 
increased benefit to the local tourism industry.  He stated that there will be no changes to the 
building.  He stated that the only change at this point is to identify where school buses are to be 
parked on site while school children visit the museum.  He stated that they anticipate that they will 
come back to the Village to seek approval for exterior signs because they weren’t ready for signs for 
this meeting. 
 
Commissioner Oakley asked how the proposed LCFPD office use and museum will impact the tax 
revenue for the subject site.  Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, stated that the 
property would be taken off of the tax rolls. 
 
Mr. Kimmel stated that the museum will have a gift shop which will generate some retail tax 
revenue. 



Minutes of the March 22, 2010, Plan Commission Meeting 
Page 8 of 9 
 
Commissioner Cotey asked for clarification regarding the parking needs for the proposed facility.  
Mr. Kimmel stated that their government office and museum uses require far less parking than a 
typical office use per the Village’s Zoning Code parking requirement. 
 
Commissioner Cotey asked for clarification regarding the proposed school bus parking layout on the 
Ste Plan.  He also asked about the condition of the LCFPD existing office buildings. 
 
Mr. Kimmel stated that the Site Plan indicates the proposed location of the school bus parking 
layout.  He stated that some existing parking spaces will be striped out, but that they will still have 
more than enough parking.  He stated that the LCFPD evaluated their existing inventory of office 
buildings and concluded that other non-profit agencies could acquire them or that the LCFPD may 
demolish them due to their structural condition. 
 
Commissioner Robinson asked for clarification regarding the LCFPD timing relative to the purchase 
of the property at 1000 Technology Way and moving in.  Mr. Kimmel stated that they hope to move 
their offices into the new facility late this calendar year and hope to have the museum in within two 
to three years. 
 
Commissioner Robinson asked Village Staff if they foresee any negative consequences to approving 
this request.  Mr. Spoden stated that these are good uses for this particular site. 
 
Chairman Moore asked the petitioner to respond to Staff comments found in the DRC Staff report.  
Mr. Kimmel stated that they will make sure that the turning radius will accommodate the school 
buses. 
 
Chairman Moore asked if there is a chance that the museum won’t occupy the building at 1000 
Technology Way.  Mr. Hahn stated that they have every intention to make the Discovery Museum 
work at the new site. 
 
Chairman Moore asked for clarification about the future signs.  Mr. Kimmel stated that they will be 
working on the new site’s sign program during the next few months and then apply again for Village 
approval. 
 
In the matter of PC 10-12, Commissioner Cotey moved, seconded by Commissioner Oakley, to 
recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a Text Amendment to Section 6-3.3 of the 
Libertyville Zoning Code to include “Public Administrative and General Government Buildings and 
Structures” and “Museums” as Special Permitted Uses in the O-2, Office, Manufacturing and 
Distribution Park District, in accordance with the plans submitted. 
 
Motion carried 4 - 0. 
 
Ayes:  Moore, Cotey, Oakley, Robinson 
Nays:  None 
Absent: Adams, Guarnaccio, Howard 



Minutes of the March 22, 2010, Plan Commission Meeting 
Page 9 of 9 
 
In the matter of PC 10-13, Commissioner Oakley moved, seconded by Commissioner Cotey, to 
recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a Special Use Permit for Public Administrative 
and General Government Buildings and Structures in order to permit the occupancy of the Lake 
County Forest Preserve administrative offices in a facility located in the O-2, Office, Manufacturing 
and Distribution Park District, in accordance with the plans submitted. 
 
Motion carried 4 - 0. 
 
Ayes:  Moore, Cotey, Oakley, Robinson 
Nays:  None 
Absent: Adams, Guarnaccio, Howard 
 
In the matter of PC 10-14, Commissioner Cotey moved, seconded by Commissioner Oakley, to 
recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a Special Use Permit for a Museum in order to 
permit the occupancy of the Lake County Forest Preserve Discovery Museum in a facility located in 
the O-2, Office, Manufacturing and Distribution Park District, in accordance with the plans 
submitted. 
 
Motion carried 4 - 0. 
 
Ayes:  Moore, Cotey, Oakley, Robinson 
Nays:  None 
Absent: Adams, Guarnaccio, Howard 
 
In the matter of PC 10-15, Commissioner Oakley moved, seconded by Commissioner Cotey, to 
recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a Site Plan Permit in order to permit the 
occupancy of the Lake County Forest Preserve administrative offices and Discovery Museum in a 
facility located in the O-2, Office, Manufacturing and Distribution Park District, in accordance with 
the plans submitted. 
 
Motion carried 4 - 0. 
 
Ayes:  Moore, Cotey, Oakley, Robinson 
Nays:  None 
Absent: Adams, Guarnaccio, Howard 
 
COMMUNICATIONS AND DISCUSSION:  
 
Commissioner Cotey moved and Commissioner Oakley seconded a motion to adjourn. 
 
Motion carried 4 - 0. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 10:10 p.m. 


